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Corporate Information
EXRER

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)

Mr. Lin En Fu

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit 810, 8/F, Tower B, Hunghom Commercial Centre

37 Ma Tau Wai Road
To Kwa Wan
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Share Registrar
Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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Principal Banker
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Tsim Sha Tsui Branch
82-84 Nathan Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Auditor
BDO Limited

25th Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

Compliance Officer
Mr. Lin En Fu

Audit Committee
Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny

Company Secretary and Financial Controller
Mr. Wong Lam (FCPA, MBA)

Authorised Representatives
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Mr. Wong Lam (FCPA, MBA)

Company Website

www.thizgroup.com
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB R T

Business Review

China recorded a GDP growth rate of 6.9% in the first quarter of this year (2017),
representing a new high since the third quarter of 2015, which laid a good foundation
to achieve annual growth target of 6.5% of this year.

As at the financial year ended March this year, the leasing business of office premises
in Shanghai, the PRC continued to be the principal source of the Group’s revenue, its
turnover remained stable as compared with last year.

During last year (2016), the low office vacancy rate in the Shanghai central business
district slightly increased. At the same time, competitions from non-central business
district also started to insert pressure on the rentals of the central business district
offices which have been increased continuously. As for the performance of non-
central business district rental properties remained strong, the rental rose by 4%,
as compared with the same period of last year, especially properties located in the
emerging business district.

During last year, office buildings in the emerging business district were active, net
absorption of non-central business district up to 560,000 square meters, more than
average of the past five years. Emerging business districts are attractive for central
business district tenants who want to expand while trying to save costs. In addition,
high-quality new properties in emerging business district also attracted old offices
tenants who are waiting to upgrade their offices. One of the reasons for office rental
market activity in central business district was slightly calm also due to the non-central
business district competition.

Prospect

Following the announcement of better-than-expected GDP growth in the first quarter
of this year, China’s successively released a number of important economic data are
not as good as market expectations, triggering a doubt about rebound in the China’s
economy has peaked during the first quarter.

In respect of Shanghai office rental market, it is excepted that there will be
approximately 1,300,000 square meters of new supply in core business district,
among which, 65% are located in Puxi. It is excepted that there will be approximately
1,950,000 square meters of new supply in non-core business district, including
Hongaiao transport hub and the Shanghai World Expo area projects. Along with the
completion of the construction in each emerging large-scale overall planning area,
Shanghai’s urban landscape will undergo major changes.

According to the research analysis, it pointed out that the tenants of Chinese-funded
enterprises in the Shanghai office leasing market continued to rise, increasing by 50%
over two years ago and surpassing the number of foreign companies for the first
time, making Shanghai office as an important new source. In addition, the average
tenant rental area also expanded every year, it is estimated that average leasing
area of this year will be 1355 square meters, representing an accumulate increase
of 70% as compared with 10 years, of which, the average rent area of domestic and
foreign investment increased by 17% and 27%, respectively. The expansion of foreign
companies’ tenants were quicker than domestic companies’ tenants.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

While the overall economy and market environment are still full of uncertainties, the
Group will continue to face the future with prudent and optimistic attitude and seek
any investment opportunities that will bring profits to the Group to expand the Group’s
revenue streams and profitability.

Financial Review

The Group’s consolidated revenue from principal activities amounted to
HK$1,891,000 (2016: HK$1,925,000). During the year, loss before taxation for the
year was HK$3,779,000, compared to loss before taxation of HK$4,340,000 in the
corresponding period of last year.

Gross profit for the Group decreased from HK$1,855,000 in 2016 to HK$1,814,000
in 2017, while the gross profit margin remained at 96% due to steady profit margin for
rental income.

Total operating costs were approximately HK$6,327,000 (2016: HK$6,255,000).
Compared to last year, the operating costs have increased by 1%.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company and loss per share for the year were
HK$4,559,000 (2016: HK$4,933,000) and HK2.02 cents (2016: HK2.20 cents)
respectively.

Financial resources, liquidity and capital structure

As at 31 March 2017, total assets of the Group amounted to HK$59,949,000
(2016: HK$57,822,000). Current assets amounted to HK$17,887,000 (2016:
HK$14,995,000), of which HK$17,492,000 (2016: HK$14,613,000) were cash and
bank deposits. Current liabilities of HK$2,734,000 (2016: HK$3,238,000) mainly
comprised of receipts in advance, other payables, deposit received and accruals and
amount due to the spouse of a director. Current ratio of the Group was 6.5 (2016: 4.6)
and gearing ratio of the Group was 2.3 (2016: 1.3) representing the Group’s borrowings
divided by total equity comprising equity attributable to owners of the Company and
reserves.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$15,153,000 (2016: HK$11,757,000).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s main operations are in the PRC and Taiwan and its income and
expenses are transacted in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and New Taiwan Dollar (‘NT$”)
respectively. Accordingly, it has no significant exposure to foreign exchange risk.

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had no charge, pledge of assets or contingent
liabilities.

Capital commitments

At the end of reporting period, the Group had no material capital commitment.
Management and employees

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had 19 employees, including the Directors of the
Company. Salaries of employees are primarily based on prevailing market salary

levels. Other employees’ benefits include mandatory provident fund, medical cover
and other insurance.
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Biographical Details of Directors
EEREN

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, aged 62, is an Executive Director and a founder of the Group.
Mr. Wong has over 30 years’ experience in sales and marketing, in particular in
electronics and computer industries. Mr. Wong was the Chairman of Association of
Electronic Components Industry of Taipei from 1990 to 1993. He oversees the sales
and marketing strategies of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the Department of
Industrial Management of Tamsui Oxford College in Taiwan with a diploma and a MBA
of the University of South Australia.

Mr. Lin En Fu

Mr. Lin En Fu, aged 61, is currently the Chief Operational Officer of the Company. He
holds a Master degree in Economics of the University of Kansas and had served for
First Commercial Bank of Taiwan for 21 years.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin, aged 63, graduated from the Economic Faculty of Taiwan
University and had been involved in research studies in Harvard and Standford
Business Schools. He was the Vice President of Holtek Semiconductor Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. in 1999. Besides, he was also the Chief Financial Officer of United
Microelectronics Corporation from 1983 to 2001, a semi-conductor manufacturer
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Taiwan, and had been working
there for about 18 years.

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen, aged 52, graduated from the department of Broadcasting and
TV of Shih Hsin University in Taiwan. She was the Executive Secretary of Franklin
Advisors Inc. and subsequently worked as the Vice President of Le Kao Co., Ltd. Ms.
Hsieh has extensive experience in the field of administration and management.

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru, aged 49, graduated with a Master Degree in Management from
Yuan Ze University in Taiwan. She was the Assistant to President of Lung Hwa
Electronics Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2003, and subsequently the Vice President of Chi
Fu Jong Hua Co., Ltd. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in the field of public relations
and consultancy.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Mr. Chu Meng Chi, aged 52, He obtained a Bachelor degree in Business
Administration from the Taiwan National Sun Yat-sen University. Mr. Chu has over 20
years’ experience in the field of corporate administration and financial investment.

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Chan Mei Sze, aged 52, is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. She has over 23 years’ accounting and finance experience in various
industries in Hong Kong.

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, aged 46, has a master degree from the New York Institute of
Technology-Vancouver in Canada. She has over 20 years’ management experience
in various industries.

Ms. Lin is also an Executive Director of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (Stock
Code: 8153).
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Corporate Governance Report

SR RS

INTRODUCTION

The Company endeavors to comply with all the code provisions on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in the GEM Listing Rules by establishing a formal and
transparent procedure to protect and maximise the interests of shareholders during
the year ended 31 March 2017.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the required
standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors throughout the year ended 31 March 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf of shareholders.
The Board is of the view that it is the Directors’ responsibility to create value for
shareholders as a whole and safeguard the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders by discharging its duties in a dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on
the principle of good faith.

The Board comprises a total of eight Directors, with two Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (CEO and Chairman) and Mr. Lin En Fu; three Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Lin Chien Hsin, Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen and Ms. Wu Chiao Ru and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu
Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The primary functions of the Board include:

0

(i)

(v)

(vi)

deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational and financial
performance and formulating appropriate policies to manage risk exposure
associated with realising the strategies and goals of the Group;

being held accountable for the internal control system of the Company and
responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

being ultimately responsible for preparing financial accounts and discussing the
performance, financial conditions and prospects of the Company in a balanced,
clear and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities are applicable to
quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Company, other price sensitive
announcements published according to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure
of other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory bodies and
information disclosable under statutory requirements; and regularly reviewing
its own functions and the powers conferred upon Executive Directors to ensure
appropriate arrangements are in place;

whilst Executive Directors, who oversee the overall business of the Company,
are responsible for the daily operations of the Company, the Board is
responsible for affairs involving the overall policies, finance and shareholders of
the Company, namely financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes
to accounting policies, annual operating budgets, material contracts, major
financing arrangements, principal investment and risk management strategy;

the management is well informed of its powers and duties with clear guidelines
and instructions, in particular regarding situations under which reporting to the
Board is necessary and matters that require the approval of the Board before
any decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the Company; and

the full Board meets at least four times a year, at approximately quarterly
intervals, to review the financial performance, results of each period, material
investments and other matters of the Group that require the resolution of the
Board. Simultaneous conference call may be used to improve attendance
when individual director cannot attend the meeting in person. Opinions of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are actively sought by the Company if they
are unable to attend the meeting in person.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tRERHE (H)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(vii)  The terms of reference of the Board also include:

a) to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development

of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the policies and practices on compliance with legal

and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to

employees and directors; and

(e) to review the compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, list of Directors and the attendance records of

the Directors and members of the committees:

Total Number of Meetings

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Mr. Lin En Fu

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Meng Chi
Ms. Chan Mei Sze
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has adopted a set of Code on Corporate Governance (“Company Code”)
which sets out the corporate standards and practices used by the Group to direct
and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by referencing to the principles, code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance (“GEM Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Board will continue to monitor and revise the Company Code and assess the
effectiveness of our corporate governance practices in tandem with changes in the
environment and requirements under the GEM Code, to ensure the Company Code is
in line with the expectations and interests of shareholders and comply with the GEM
Code.

Except as mentioned below, the Company applied the principles and complied with
all the code provisions as set out in the GEM Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The GEM Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong is both the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Company
who is responsible for managing the Board and the Group business. The Board
considers that, with the present board structure and scope of business of the Group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as Mr. Wong is
perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles in which he has been
acting. However, the Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group
corporate governance structure to assess whether the separation of the positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is necessary.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the GEM Code Provision A.4.1, all the Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. At present, the Non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Code Provision A.6.7 and E.1.2

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that Independent Non-executive Directors and other
Non-executive Directors should attend general meeting and have a fair understanding
of the shareholders’ opinion. Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the Chairman of the
Board should attend the Annual General Meeting and also invite the Chairmen of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and any
other committee to the meeting.

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors could not attend
the Annual General Meeting held on 29 September 2016 due to extraordinary
business activities and unexpected events.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tRERHE (F

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

The Company reports to all Directors regularly to allow the Directors to fully
understand the responsibility they share in the operation and the business of the
Group. The Group arranges professional development training for all Directors to
broaden and update their knowledge and skills, constantly informs all Directors about
the GEM Listing Rules and the latest development of other applicable regulations
to ensure the Directors comply with relevant regulation and raise their awareness
of good corporate governance practices. All Directors have provided their training
record.

The records of training the Directors received during the year ended 31 March 2017
are as follows:

Name of Directors EEHE
Executive Directors PTEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong FElEsk4E
Mr. Lin En Fu MEBRE
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen WEHEL T
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru ARI5NZ =
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin MREFT T
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Chu Meng Chi Ra#EE
Ms. Chan Mei Sze PREFF 2+
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Mk 1=
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND SENIOR STAFF

The Company has made appropriate arrangement regarding insurance, which covers
potential legal action faced by Directors and senior staff.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Lam is the Company Secretary of the Company. His authorized duties
include ensuring the Board of Directors to operate effectively and fulfill its duties,
drafting agenda for the Board of Directors’ meetings and shareholders’ meetings and
ensuring the clear and effective communication among members of the Board and
also between members of the Board and the shareholders and management. During
the year, the company secretary has undergone professional training for over 15
hours to gain the most updated knowledge to facilitate his discharge of duties.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Membership

1. The Committee shall consist of 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors
appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company from time to time.

2. The Board shall nominate one of the members as the Chairman of the
Committee.

3. The Company Secretary or his nominee shall act as the Committee’s
Secretary.

Frequency and proceedings of meetings

4. The Committee shall meet at least once every year.

5. The Chairman of the Committee may convene additional meetings at his
discretion.

6. The quorum of a meeting shall be 2 members of the Committee.

7. Proceedings of meetings of the Committee shall be governed by the provisions

of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Duties, powers and functions

8. The Committee shall:

(@) implement the remuneration policy laid down by the Board;

(b) recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration

of Directors and senior management;

() review the remuneration of Directors and senior management;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EEERRE (B)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued) HMZES (18)
Duties, powers and functions (continued) B8 - @NOKBEE (&)

(d) review and approve the compensation arrangements in connection () wrl R EE S EREE RS AR I RS SRE
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment, or dismissal ERATAKRE MEFERERE RIS RNEER
or removal for misconduct to Directors; HE

(e) review the criteria for assessing employee performance, which should (e) Rl E B RIRA AR - ARXERARMAR
reflect the Company’s business objectives and targets; AINEBENREEZ

() consider the annual performance bonus for Executive Directors, ) BENTES RREEAEBR—REINRKR
senior management, and the general staff, having regard to their HEHIFIZERRIT2EMHIZE  EZHEBEAE
achievements against the performance criteria and by reference to DETWMEERBIEA  EmrnEEeREE
market norms and make recommendation to the Board; =

(9  do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers (@ HERIEMTESFEEZEerBITEESE THED
and functions conferred on it by the Board; and Kiee - &

(h)  conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from HEESETHRIETENARAAMER TR
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitution XA BT E BRI ESK « I8R R -
of the Company or imposed by legislation.

=

9. The Committee shall be provided with sufficient resources to enable it to 9. ZEERERETEBIRABITERAE -
perform its functions.

Reporting Procedures (ERIER
10.  The Committee shall report to the Board on a regular basis. 10. ZESATFTHRNEZEZSENR -

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Chu Meng Chi, an Independent HNEE ST FEABIIFNITEEARAGELE MEMKESR
Non-executive Director, and other members include Ms. Lin Yan Jenny and Ms. Chan EM T REESL T A IERITES -
Mei Sze being Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee of the Company convened one FN - ARFIZTFNEEEEH—AeH  SIWAEEHET
meeting, and all matters concerning the determination of remuneration of the EENRREEEBHFMEE - I FNEEGE—FP =S
Directors and senior management were discussed. In addition, the remuneration BERAREENSREIRE 2 HMECR MRS - AN AEE
policies and incentive mechanism applicable to the Directors and senior management CEBEGMEE  WRZEeH tRESeEHEEES -
and the overall remuneration system of the Group were further refined and reasonable

recommendations were made to the Board in the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE RETES8

Membership [

1, The Committee shall consist of 5 Directors appointed by the Company’s Board 1, ZEEHARAESTETHEANABESET &4
of Directors from time to time, at least 3 of them shall be Independent Non- =RBEB IENITES -

executive Directors.

2. The Board shall designate one of the members as the Committee’s Chairman. 2. EFeAETZEENENER—ARZESER -

3. The Company Secretary or his nominee shall act as the Committee’s 3. NAMERHEREABETZESGWE -
Secretary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Frequency and proceedings of meetings

4. The Committee shall meet at least once annually.

5. In addition, the Committee’s Chairman may convene additional meetings at his
discretion.

6. The quorum of a meeting shall be 3 Committee members.

7. Proceedings of the Committee’s meetings shall be governed by the

Company’s Articles of Association.

Duties, powers and functions
8. The Committee shall:

(@) regularly review the structure, size and composition of the Board; and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) identify and nominate candidates to the Board;

() assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;

(d) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
succession planning for the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer as
well as the senior management;

(e) do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board; and

) conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the Company’s
constitution or imposed by legislation.

9. The Committee shall be provided with sufficient resources to enable it to
perform its functions.

Reporting Procedures
10.  The Committee shall report to the Board on a regular basis.

The Nomination Committee of the Company currently comprises five Directors,
including two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hoi Wong and Mr. Lin En Fu,
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu
Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze, the Chairman of the Committee is Mr. Wong Hoi
Wong.

During the year, the committee convened one meeting, reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board; and made recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy and
discharged its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EEERRE (B)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial

statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in accordance

with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also

ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, about their

reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 29 to 32 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

@)

The Audit Committee of the Company currently comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and
Ms. Chan Mei Sze. The Audit Committee possesses a wealth of experience and
expertise including accounting profession, and regulatory experience both in
Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC. The Chairman of the committee is Mr. Chu
Meng Chi.

During the year, the Board reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee and has made relevant amendments to accommodate the
requirements of the GEM Code, where appropriate.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to review and supervise the
Group’s financial reporting system, internal control procedures and to maintain
good and independent communications with the management as well as auditor
of the Company.

In discharging its responsibility, the Audit Committee has performed the
following work:

()  reviewed the draft annual and quarterly financial statements and draft
results announcements during the year; and

(i) reviewed, in conjunction with the auditor, the development of accounting
standards and assessed their potential impacts on the Group’s financial
statements.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year to review the results of the
Group.

Audit Committee is to be responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
any questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

AUDITOR

During the year ended 31 March 2017, audit service fees payable to auditors
amounted to HK$575,000 (2016: HK$560,000). No non-audit service fee was
payable to auditors during the year (2016: Nil).

Internal control and risk management

The Board is responsible for a reliable and efficient internal control and risk
management system of the Group and reviews whether the operation is adequate
and effective through the Audit Committee.

Internal control and risk management system includes the management, the authority
and responsibilities of whom is as follows:

1) help to achieve business target and protect the Group’s assets;

2 ensure the proper maintenance and reliability of accounting record and
financial report;

3) ensure compliance with relevant regulations; and
(4) Identify and reduce the Group’s major risk.

The purpose of establishing internal control and risk management system is to
reasonably prevent the Group from material mistake and loss and to closely monitor
the risks threatening the Group to achieve targets.

During this financial year, according to the assessment of the Group’s management,
the Audit Committee believes that:

A. the Group has conducted an identification, assessment and management
process for material risks threatening to its businesses; and

B. an effective and proper internal control and risk management system has been
maintained throughout this financial year.

Having regards to the simple nature and size of the Group’s business projects during
the financial year, the Group did not establish a special internal audit department. In
future, the Board will have an annual review to assess whether it is necessary to set
up such department to carry out internal audit.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
J/J:\%”E I:l (nﬁ)

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the constitutional documents during the year.

PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

1.

The Articles of Association set out the rights of our shareholders.

All shares have the same voting rights and are entitled to the dividends
declared.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital may request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting. The objects of the meeting must be stated in
the related requisition deposited at the registered office.

For including a resolution relating to other matters in a general meeting,
shareholders are requested to follow the requirements and procedures as set
out in the Articles of Association.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, if a shareholder wish to propose a
person other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, the shareholder should deposit a written notice of nomination which
shall be given to the Company Secretary within the 7-day period commencing
the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting (or such other period as
may be determined and announced by the Directors from time to time).

Shareholders have the right to receive corporate communications in hard
copies.

Shareholders whose shares held in the Central Clearing and Settlement
System (CCASS) may notify us from time to time through Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited if they wish to receive our corporate
communications.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

1. This Policy aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
Shareholders are provided with information about the Company, in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to
allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.

2. The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders, and will
regularly review this Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

3. Information shall be communicated to Shareholders mainly through
the Company’s financial reports, annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making available
all the disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and its corporate
communications and other corporate publications on the website.

4, Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Registrar.

5. Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders in plain language
and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding. Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange
is also posted on the Company’s website immediately thereafter. Such
information includes financial statements, results announcements, circulars
and notices of general meetings and associated explanatory documents etc.

6. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend the meetings. Board members, appropriate management
executives and external auditor will attend annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company’s Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Under the Policy, the
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board with
a vision for the Company to achieve a sustainable and balanced development.
Appointments of directors are made on merits, including but not limited to, sex, age,
cultural and educational background, while having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board. They represent diverse career experience in both international
and local enterprises. They bring with them diverse professional backgrounds,
spanning management, advisory and finance.

The Board composition reflects various cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional development, length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values. The Board considers the current
line-up has provided the Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and
experience for the requirements of its business. The Board will continue to review
its composition from time to time taking into consideration board diversity for the
requirements and benefits of the Company’s business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERERRE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and thereby

endeavors to look for environmental protection solution to achieve low-carbon and

simple office culture in order to create a better future.

This report is prepared with reference to the “Environmental, Social and Governance

Reporting Guide” as set out in Appendix of the GEM Listing Rules.

A.

A1

A2

Environmental

The Group strongly encourages the staff to implement a green office culture,
such as, if possible, sending and scanning documents by email in order to
reduce paper usage. Meanwhile, we also require staff to use recycled papers
first for printing internal documents and minimizes the using of one-off products.
In addition, in order to reduce the environmental impact of staff’s business trip,
we hold meetings by teleconference as far as possible, which can reduce the
cost of business trip, on the other hand, can minimize the adverse environmental
impact from travelling. Besides, we ask our clients to provide electronic monthly
statements as far as possible to reduce paper usage.

Since the conservation of global environment and natural resources has
fundamental impact to the human beings, it is the responsibility of all our
peoples to protect the environment. We reduce energy and natural resources
consumption in practice, reduce wastes, and choose renewable and recycled
products as far as possible. In addition, we encourage our clients and suppliers
to attach importance to environmental measures and practice.

Emissions

We strive to implement the following emissions reduction measures during our
daily operation:

1. Reduce time of lighting usage;

2. Strengthen the shading and insulation of office, so as to delay the turning
on of air-conditioner or turning off air conditioning early;

3. Replace high efficiency and energy saving light pipe and LED lighting
system;

4. Purchase energy saving office equipment; and
Provide staff with green office information.

Reduce carbon emissions and reduce waste by wastage reduction and strict
waste sorting and recycling.

Use of Resources

During the past year, carbon emissions from electricity usage were about 15,255
(KWh).

We actively use the office equipment, so that the best efficiency can be attained
in our daily operation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources
During the past year, our paper wastage was 117kg.

In order to protect natural resources, we choose green purchases, such as
buying environmentally friendly toners and ink cartridges. At the same time,
we reduce the use of photocopying paper by double-sided printing and use
recycled papers; use the photocopier’s scanning function to replace document
fax and file storage, and implement online vacation application system, online
internal document approval, and agree with business partners to transfer
documents by emails, electronic billings and other forms of documents to
reduce paper usage, as far as possible.

Social
Employment

The Group equally treats every employee without considering their ethnicity,
race, nationality, sex, religion, age and marriage status when determining their
employment, remuneration package and promotion. To create a diversified
working environment, we hope that all staff can appreciate, take care and
respect each other regardless of their difference.

Health and Safety

The Group’s human resources policy is to attract and foster excellent talents
and provide a proper environment for them to unlock their potential. Therefore,
prefect staff management system, reasonable remuneration and benefit
package, supportive training and development solution, optimized working
environment and adequate health and medical and operation safety insurance
are important measures for our human resources strategy.

We will establish a working environment without worry to realize our common
vision and share the result of sustainable development with our staff.

Development and Training

Staff is the most important asset of the Group. Therefore, the Group pays
serious attention to the promotion and training of staff. In addition to providing
internal and external training and career development opportunities to our staff,
Our senior management maintains communication with the staff at any time,
encourage and guide the staff to put their energy into work and inspirit them to
work hard together to fulfill our business targets. We foster professional team
through training in order to support our sustainable business development.

Labour Standards

The Group has established the “Employment and Compensation & Benefits
Policies” to meet the requirements of “Employment Ordinance” and the
“Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance”. The Group is forbidden to
recruit child labor and compulsory labor. The Group is fully responsible for the
employer’s liability, including the provision of benefits to employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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B5S

B6

B7

B8

Supply Chain Management

The Group relies on the products and services from the suppliers to support our
business operation and to provide quality services to customers. Accordingly,
supply chain management is an important part of the Group’s operation.
As such regard, we establish following assessment criteria for the suppliers,
including three aspects such as environmental protection, social responsibility
and ethics. Meanwhile, we set up a transparent and arm’s length procuring
procedure. Before placing orders for products and services, the Group conducts
a qualification assessment on the supplier to ensure to obtain the best products
from a suitable supplier. The assessment includes reviewing the supplier’s costs,
quality, environmental protection awareness, conduct, and performance of
social responsibility etc. Such requirements to suppliers are not only for protect
our business, but also represent our effort to fulfill social responsibility.

Product Responsibility

The Group requires all staff to be superb, professional and honest. In order to
ensure all staff formalized with and strictly following each relevant regulations
and code of conducts, the Group set up a code of conducts that our staff must
strictly comply with, which lists the matters all staff shall have to follow, covering
relevant matters in relation to regulations and governance, including prevention
of bribery, use of information and personal conduct.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly abides by anti-corruption and incorruptible laws and
regulations. Internally, the Group has implemented a staff code and
management system, requiring all employees to maintain a high level of business
ethics. The Audit Committee of the Group is responsible for internal control
matters relating to anti-corruption.

Community Investment

The Group supports community activities and engages in community services
and promote community development with a view to create a harmonious
community and to fulfill our responsibility as a corporate citizen. As we know
it is favorable for the Group’s business development in a society with hope,
love and care. The Group actively builds up a corporate culture for loving and
caring society by encouraging staff to engage in voluntary service in community,
bringing social activities into our activities, which improves staff’s belongingness
and loyalty while giving back to the community.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT REPORTING

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the
financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out on pages
33 to 85.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 38 and in note 25(d) to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2017, the Company had no distributable reserves.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 86 to 87.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
BEEgRE (E)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Mr. Lin En Fu

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chu Meng Chi
Ms. Chan Mei Sze
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny

In accordance with article 116 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Wong
Hoi Wong, Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen and Ms. Wu Chiao Ru shall retire from the Board by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2017, the interests or short positions of the Directors and Chief
Executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 under the Laws of Hong Kong), which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Type of interests and Percentage
number of shares held of the
ERENRFEROEE Company’s
Personal Other issued share
Name of director interest interest Total capital
RN
BBITRAE
EEnE BARER Hit i st ATk
(Note)
(Hi:)
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin 5,295,000 - 5,295,000 2.35%
MEFT R E
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong - 1,608,600 1,608,600 0.67%
FHRELE

Note: These shares are registered in the name of Eaglemax International Investment Limited
(“ElIL"), a company owned by Intelligent Management Limited (“IML”") as the trustee of
Intelligent Management Discretionary Trust, a family discretionary trust, the objects of
which include Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, his family and any charity in the world. As at 31
March 2017, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong held the entire issued share capital of IML. By virtue
of SFO, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong has an interest of such shares.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
E;ﬁ' (nﬁ)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors had short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2017, the following persons (not being the Directors and Chief
Executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

ESRIBTHAENRNATES i (18)

(b) RATRMNKIBRARD 2R

BAREREEN RZT—tF=A=1+—"R SEEHE
SARA 2 BB AITETAZ RO #EEERER -

BrRAREREEIN T—tF=-A=1+—RB BEEHE
JIAIN/N T&EEFMEM&@(E%E &7 MR RBIE XV &)
Z B ABBIR SE SR A EARIEE 5 R B RHIE XV
METR8DHEHNEARA LB Rz EmRER (BIER
BREFRAEGIBREGEXHEREFEXERER 2 i
B) - HIRBES KR HEDIFEI52GAE TG s &
Atz #mRER - FRIEAIFRR EMARRAIES.61 (FAM
ERAUNCIIEE BN S A S=a

FERR IR

RZZE—tF=A=+—R  BAEHFRASKEHEXVIE2

k3o 1‘*XIETEJZ %&Hﬂ =R 336 IEIMERFEZE

ERA I IE=RE S P N BB REFZERSERE ZA
T (FEARR ﬂé%&f% TTHRAB)WOT :

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name of shareholder Nature of interests shares held issued share capital
#E HEBRITREZ

REREE EEME ROHE BMHBEDE
Ms. Wang Ying Fang Beneficial Bz 40,000,000 17.73%

Wang Ying Fang Z+

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, there was no person (not being
the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company) who had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchase attributable to the five largest suppliers in
aggregate is less than 30%.

The sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 88%
of the total sales for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 38%.

None of the Directors, their respective associates and shareholders of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group for the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules during the year are set
out in note 28(a) and (b) to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the substantial shareholders or the management shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in any business which
competed with or might compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31
March 2017.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Group’s strategy is to generate stable income through property investment.
Our corporate values rest in growing the presence of our existing businesses and
identifying new business and investment opportunities not limited to our current
businesses in order to deliver value to both our customers and our shareholders.
All such opportunities will continue to be diligently and carefully evaluated by the
Board with the view of delivering value to our shareholders. We believe implementing
disciplined business strategies and prudent financial management serves this
purpose by preserving the longevity and sustainability of our businesses.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
BEEgRE (E)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The duties of the Audit Committee are to
review and to provide supervision over the financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan
Mei Sze.

During the year, the Audit Committee has met four times to review the results of the
Group.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been audited by BDO
Limited.

BDO Limited retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of the Company to re-
appoint Messrs. BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Wong Hoi Wong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THIZ TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(MR EEARDR)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Thiz Technology Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on
pages 33 to 85, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting
policy on investment properties as shown in Note 4(d) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s investment properties were carried at fair value of HK$42,045,000 as at
31 March 2017 which was based on valuations performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

BIAZBEN R E (B

Investment properties were significant to the consolidated financial statements
representing 70% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and in
addition to the reason above, was identified as a Key Audit Matter.

The valuation of investment properties requires significant judgement and estimation
in determining the appropriate valuation methodology to be used and in estimating
the underlying assumptions to be applied. There is a risk that the carrying amount
of investment properties may be significantly changed if the valuation methodology
adopted and the key assumptions applied by the valuers are varied. A small change
in the key assumptions applied such as discount on asking price and adjustments on
size or location between each of the subject properties and the comparables could
have a significant impact on the valuation.

Our Response
Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment properties included:
—  Evaluating the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external valuers;

— Assessing the methodology used and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions applied based on our knowledge of the property industry;

- Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the inputs data
used; and

- Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the valuation of investment properties including the
relationship between the key unobservable input and fair value.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

L BED R ()

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shiu Hong NG
Practising Certificate Number: PO3752

Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FERERHEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HEZ=ZT—tHF=-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P EE FHT FAT
Revenue ' ON 5 1,891 1,925
Cost of sales and services SHE RARIS A AR (77) (70)
Gross profit EAH 1,814 1,855
Other revenue and gains N 5 1,695 969
General and administrative expenses —RITHER (6,327) (6,255)
Finance costs BhE KA 7 (961) (909)
Loss before taxation AT EE 8 (3,779) (4,340)
Taxation BiIA 11(a) (790) (602)
Loss for the year AEFEER (4,569) (4,942)
Other comprehensive income Hin 2 E =
ltem that may subsequently be re-classified HignsmoEs
to profit or loss: BmMIER -
Currency translation differences BismE = (2,176) (1,701)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEHEKNSHEEE (6,745) (6,643)
Loss attributable to: LT EEEER
— Owners of the Company —ARFHEEA (4,559) (4,933)
— Non-controlling interest — IR S (10) ©)
(4,569) (4,942)
Total comprehensive income for UTEEARFEZEKRGZEE
the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company EAVNEIL 2PN (6,735) (6,634)
- Non-controlling interest — PR (10) ©)
(6,745) (6,643)
Loss per share: FRERE :
— Basic and diluted (in cents) —EARREE (L) 13 (2.02) (2.20)
BN RS BB R AR - 2016/17 F#f
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRIRR

At 31 March 2017 RZZT—+tF=A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF T RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b FExT FAT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E e 14 17 13
Investment properties AR 15 42,045 42,814
42,062 42,827
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables, PR R EoAth FE U R IE
deposits and prepayments Be RIBFHIE 17 395 382
Bank balances and cash RITHEERRE 18 17,492 14,613
17,887 14,995
Current liabilities REEE
Receipts in advance FEURFRIB 414 544
Other payables, deposits received and HAERFIE - EldRE Rk
accruals FEETFRIA 19 1,829 1,825
Amount due to the spouse of a director JENESRREHIAE 20 491 869
2,734 3,238
Net current assets RBEEFE 15,153 11,757
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 57,215 54,584
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Amount due to a director JEREEHIA 21 3,723 4,789
Amount due to a shareholder FERT AR B R IE 22 34,789 24,981
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIAAE 11(b) 2,245 1,611
40,757 31,381
Net assets EERE 16,458 23,203
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued]

mEMBMRRR (E)

At 31 March 2017 RZZ—+tF=A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ik FExT FET
EQUITY ez

Share capital A 23 225,570 225,570
Reserves 1] (208,787) (202,052)

Equity attributable to owners of EAREEBA
the Company iy 16,783 23,518
Non-controlling interest iR ER (325) (315)
Total equity EREE 16,458 23,203

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 28 June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Director
WONG HOI WONG

Director
LIN EN FU

HERAVBRRN_Z—LF AT/ \BEESFSHAER
BT - WA THEBERREE

BF BFE
e MEH

BIrs RIS E AR AR 2016/17 F3k
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEARERER

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HEZ=ZZT—+F=A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—ZT—tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FT
Cash flows from operating activities REEKCHERE
Loss before taxation WAL ATE 1R (3,779) (4,340)
Adjustments for: FE
Fair value gain on investment properties "EYZE AT ERE (1,625) (8795)
Interest income FEBA (34) (33)
Interest expenses (Note 7) MERZ (HE7) 961 909
Depreciation e 9 7
Operating cash flows before working EEESHHAICLCERSRE
capital changes (4,468) (4,332)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other PR R EoAth FE U R IE
receivables, deposits and prepayments e RIEMFIE (8m), R (13) 61
Decrease in trade payables FERTRRIER - 63)
(Decrease)/increase in receipts in advance Tad kA CRid) /#Ean (130) 33
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, deposits HAibFEMFIE - EWIRS
received and accruals 4 (15)
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes 61 38
Cash used in operations KEEBFARSE (4,546) (4,278)
Interest received EHALE 34 33
Interest paid BFE (346) (375)
Net cash used in operating activities REEKFARSFE (4,858) (4,620)
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHZHERE
Payments to acquire property, REME
plant and equipment 5 KRR AR 2 R (13) 8)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFMARESFEE (13) ©®)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued]

= N1 ]
ZEREMER ()
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HEZ=ZT—tHF=-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Cash flows from financing activities METBHZHERE
Repayment of principal portion of amount due BEENESFRBEENRIE
to the spouse of a director (290) 817)
Repayment of principal portion of BEENESEEHA
amount due to a director (960) (1,040)
Repayment of principal portion of BEENRREEEFHIA
amount due to a shareholder (6,000) -
Increase in amount due to a shareholder FES AR R FRIALE N 15,000 -
Net cash generated/(used in) from RMETEHEE (R 2RLFHE
financing activities 7,750 (1,357)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRBLEEEREM (RL) BE
and cash equivalents 2,879 (5,985)
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZzRERBELEHEER
beginning of year 14,613 20,598
Cash and cash equivalents at REEZRERBESEHEHER
end of year (Note 18) (Hix18) 17,492 14,613

BIrs RIS E AR AR 2016/17 F3k
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

A

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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GENERAL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Thiz Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an

exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the

Companies Law (Cap.22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the

Cayman Islands on 6 December 2000. The address of its registered office

and principal place of business are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Unit 810, 8/F, Tower B,
Hunghom Commercial Centre, 37 Ma Tau Wai Road, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon,

.--71' =] aﬁi’%#ﬁ%ﬂﬁ&

31 March 2017 —Z—+H=A=+—H

]
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Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & &/& LB L IES
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Hong Kong, respectively.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM”).

The Group is principally engaged in (i) property leasing; (i) trading business; and
(iii) the information technology industry as a developer and provider of a range of
Linux solutions including Linux operating systems and application systems run
on Linux. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new/revised to HKFRSs - effective 1 April 2016

The Group has adopted the following new/revised HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants that are effective for
the current accounting period.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements
Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operations

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

The adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs has no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the consolidated
financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group:

Effective date
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative (i)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax (i)
Assets for Unrealised Losses
HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements (i)
2014-2016 Cycle
HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property (i)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions (i)
and Advance Consideration
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (i)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts (if)
with Customers
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts (if)

with Customers
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)
HKFRS 16 Leases (iii)

Effective date:

() Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
(i) Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
(i) Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Amendments to HKAS 7 - Disclosure Initiative

The amendments introduce an additional disclosure that will enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities.

Amendments to HKAS 12 - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

The amendments relate to the recognition of deferred tax assets and
clarify some of the necessary considerations, including how to account for
deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured of fair value.

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40 - Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments clarify that, to transfer to or from, investment properties,
there must be a change in use. A change in use would involve (a) an
assessment of whether a property meets, or has ceased to meet, the
definition of investment property; and (b) supporting evidence that a
change in use has occurred.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 clarifies the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of related
asset, expense or income, when an entity has received or paid advance
consideration in a foreign currency.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have contractual
terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash
flow characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt
instruments that meet the contractual cash flow characteristics test are
measured at FVTOCI if the objective of the entity’s business model is both
to hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial
assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to
measure equity instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All
other debt and equity instruments are measured at FVTPL.

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all financial
assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS
39 and new general hedge accounting requirements to allow entities to
better reflect their risk management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement
requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial
liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition framework. The
core principle of the framework is that an entity should recognise revenue
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”,
HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to revenue
recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation

Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is
satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics
that may change the current approach taken under HKFRSs. The standard
also significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative disclosures
related to revenue.

Amendments HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on identification of
performance obligations; application of principal versus agent; licenses of
intellectual property; and transition requirements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases

For lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model
and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a
term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.
A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its
right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing
its obligation to make lease payments. For lessor accounting, HKFRS 16
substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases
or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the potential
impact of these new/revised HKFRSs and the directors are not yet in a
position to state whether these new/revised HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified for investment properties, which are
carried at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is the functional currency of
the Company.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the effective
dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting
gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interest
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the
subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interest
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise
control. The Company controls an investee if all three of the following
elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power
to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

4.

& AT R R M R ()

31 March 2017 —Z—+H=A=+—H

S2SEECR (18)

(a)

(b)

EBEHKRGEEREE(E)

BAREEKENE R BRI - &S PrE SRR
FEERATREZEZRE - (\BRREBZATFERE
AREEE 2 A FEZEE  RiZMERRZE
E(RERE) RaREEF R ER 2 BERET
B UEREMmE2EKaEREMNEARRRLZE
o ARG AAR - AR EESR B ED &
&

Wiig iz IR R REERRY T RERE - S0
R aEREOEREE - ME2 RS AR
BB IFE R S RAER AL - (DA ASE

i@ AT

MEBARBEARFEHETERIZENRZNRER
A WABNT 2B =RTE  AQFMNHKERE
RAEAEGIE  HRREQREAEN - RAW
RENAEE R RBRIERN - REEITEENFE
BERUEERIEED - WEFERIERERER
HZEEGIRTEAREER - BEENTEERES
B o

EARDRZMBRRAERT - BB AR ZRERK
ANEREBBALR - MBARZFERARAR
ek e M B AR

BN RS BB R AR - 2016/17 F#f

45



46

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

Historical cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the asset has been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is
charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it is probable that future economic benefits of the expenditure will
flow to the entity, and the cost of which can be measured reliably, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of the asset or a separate
asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

33%
14%-33%
14%-20%
20%

Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary course of
business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment property is measured at cost on
initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where

the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms

require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the

market concerned, are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction

costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through

profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. During the year, the

Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables which are

subsequently accounted for as follows:

U

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses. Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss,
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the asset have been impacted. Objective evidence of
impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

—  default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

—  significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate, where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result
in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
and other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but
not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied
that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade and other receivables and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Financial assets (Continued)

(f

(iv)  Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises financial assets only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group

U

(i)

(i)

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including other payables, deposit received and
accruals and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, net of
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised
on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group
(Continued)

(iv)  Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to
settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result of renegotiating
the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at
their fair value on the date the financial liability or part thereof is
extinguished. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to reflect
the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss
for the year.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at
call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Operating leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets
concerned to the lessees. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also
spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0]

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or
an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount
is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Taxation

Taxation for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted
for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes
and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities arising from initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profits are not
recognised.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the appropriate
tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is when an investment
property is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”.
Unless the presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these
investment properties are measured using the tax rates that would apply
on sale of these investment properties at their carrying amounts at the
reporting date. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, foreign
currency transactions are translated into individual entity’s functional
currency at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit or loss.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations (including comparatives)
are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Income and expenses items (including
comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in translation reserve. Such translation differences, to the
extent attributable to the owners of the Company, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period when the foreign operations are disposed of.

(m) Employees’ benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before
twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which
the employees render the related service. Short term employee
benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render the
related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement
scheme are expensed as incurred when the services are rendered by
the employees.

(i) -~ Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBREMEE (F)

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets which require a substantial period of time
to be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets is deducted from
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(o) Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is @ member of key management personnel of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
apply:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
the employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)()) has significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group or to
the Company’s parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(0)

(p)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates
and other similar allowances and excludes value added tax or other sales
related taxes.

()  Revenue from sales of goods is recognised upon transfer of the
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the customer. This
is usually taken as the time when the goods are delivered and the
customer has accepted the goods.

(i) Software development income from provision of technical support
services are recognised when the services are rendered.

(i) Rental income is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for operating leases set out in Note 4(h).

(iv) Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIEREM S (E)

31March2017 —Z—+F=HA=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS 5. A -~ Efthif AR W&
Revenue represents the Group’s gross rental income, the invoiced value of WAEREBEBASWA - EFHRARBEMTZERAZ
trading income and software development income from provision for technical BEEE WHBREE WHEREEERB IS -
support services, after allowances for returns and discounts and net of value REEWAREAMBA R AT
added tax. An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other revenue and gains is as
follows:
2017 2016
—E—+F T —RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue: ONE
Rental income WA 1,476 1,452
Software development income from provision R B BRI S IR AR TS Y
of technical support services AR 415 473
1,891 1,925
Other revenue and gains: HAA Rz
Fair value gain on investment properties (Note 15) REMENFEWE (HFE15) 1,625 875
Interest income FEWA 34 33
Sundry income HMIBA 36 61
1,695 969
Revenue, other revenue and gains WA~ AU A R U2k 3,586 2,894
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports reviewed
by the chief operating decision-maker that are used to make strategic decisions
and to assess the performance.

The Group has three (2016: three) reportable segments. Each of the Group’s
reportable segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of other business segments. Details of the business segments are summarised
as follows:

(@ the trading business segment that engages in the trading of computer
accessories and household goods;

(b) the software development segment that engages in the development and
provision of technical support services to software and hardware products;
and

(c) the property leasing segment that engages in property leasing in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents and other unallocated head
office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude amount due to the spouse of a director, amount
due to a director, amount due to a shareholder, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

There was no inter-segment sale or transfer during the year (2016: HK$NIl).
Central revenue and expenses including other revenue and gains (except for
fair value gain on investment properties) and finance costs are not allocated
to the operating segments as they are not included in the measurement of the
segments’ profit/loss that is used by the chief operating decision-makers for
assessment of segment performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

—T—+tF=H=+—H

31 March 2017

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Business segments

Trading business

6. NEIRS (48)

(@) FR¥ENSP

Software development

Property leasing

Consolidated

ER¥ER BHmR MERE ]
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE—tF % ZB-tF 2T 1F ZB-tF ZTF ZBtF ZZF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000
THER TAT TR TET THER TAT TR FHET
Revenue from external customers  RESMRZEE ZIA - - 45 473 1,476 1,452 1,891 1,925
Inter-segment revenue AEEYA - - - - - - - -
Reportable segment revenue AZH/AHPYPA - - 415 473 1,476 1,452 1,891 1,925
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A 2H/A B (ER),/ (717) (724) 252 290 2,740 1,981 2,275 1,547
Reportable segment assets AERHHEE 186 195 19 16 42,045 42,816 42,250 43,027
Reportable segment liabilities AZHRHHAE (76) (71) (5) (14) (582) (729) (663) (814)
Other segment information: Hi &R
Interest income FEMA 34 33
Fair value gain on investment REMEZRYE
properties Yok - - - - 1,625 875 1,625 875
Finance costs BERA (961) (909)
Depreciation e 2 4 2 1 - - 4 5
Unallocated depreciation ADEIE 5 2
Total depreciation Egs 9 7
Additions to non-current assets  RINEIEABEE - - - 3 - - - 3
Unallocated additions to AAEPIEE RS EE
non-current assets 13 5
Total additions to NNEFRGEERR
non-current assets 13 8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMIBREM S (E)

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. NEPMS (58)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment loss, assets and

(b) DZ2WMNBEE - EEREBE2HK

liabilities

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT
Loss before taxation RRBE RIS 18
Reportable segment profit AI2HHERF 2,275 1,547
Other revenue EAA 70 94
Corporate and other unallocated expenses PEREMRSREHAZ (5,163) (5,072)
Finance costs RYE A (961) (909)
Consolidated loss before taxation M ATAR A 518 (3,779) (4,340)
2017 2016
—E—+tF —TE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AI2HOHEE 42,250 43,027
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEMEEE 17,492 14,613
Unallocated corporate assets ROBEEEE 207 182
Consolidated total assets MEBERE 59,949 57,822
2017 2016
—E—+tF TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities AR HEE (663) 814)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIE A E (2,245) (1,611)
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROBEESRE
— Amount due to the spouse of a director —ERESRBRIE (491) (869)
— Amount due to a director —ENEEHEA (3,723) (4,789)
— Amount due to a shareholder — BRI R FRIA (34,789) (24,981)
— Others —E A (1,580) (1,555)
(40,583) (832,194)
Consolidated total liabilities rAEBERE (43,491) (34,619)
BN RS BB R AR - 2016/17 F#f
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IFE M HRERMEE (8)

31 March 2017 —Z—+F=A=+—H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(c)

(d)

6. NEIRS (48)

Geographic information (c) HFNIBER
During the reporting period, the Group’s operations and non-current PREHIE - AEBE ZEBNIERHEE (ST A
assets other than financial instruments (specified non-current assets) are (BTEIEREBEE)RINMRES - & K&F @(
located in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC (2016: Hong Kong, Taiwan E—RNEFE:FB GEETR)  UATETIERD
and the PRC). The specified non-current assets information below is based EAR T AR EMTHE D
on the location of assets.
Segment information of the Group by geographical locations of customer IREEHAHE S ANEE T HEERNT -
is presented as below:
Hong Kong Taiwan The PRC Consolidated
S =) e ]
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE—tF 5 ZB-tF 2T 1F ZB-tF ZTF ZBtF T F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000
TER FEL TET FHT TER FET TERT FHT
Revenue from external customers  RESNREE Z WA - 309 308 1,582 1,617 1,891 1,925
Specified non-current assets HEEREEE 1 1 3 42,050 42819 42,062 42,827

Information about major customers

The Group’s customer base is concentrated and there were four
customers (2016: three) with whom transactions have accounted for
10% or more of the Group’s revenue. During the year ended 31 March
2017, rental income from three of the tenants in the property leasing
segment amounted to approximately HK$752,000, HK$309,000 and
HK$196,500 each, and income from one customer in the software
development segment amounted to approximately HK$309,000. During
the year ended 31 March 2016, rental income from two of the tenants in
the property leasing segment amounted to approximately HK$732,000
and HK$297,000 each, and income from one customer in the software
development segment amounted to approximately HK$308,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMIBREM S (E)

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BYERIK
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Interest payable to a director (Note 21) ERESFE (Mix21) 134 182
Interest payable to the spouse of a director (Note 20)  FET & ERMBH & (Mf3E 20) 19 37
Interest payable to a shareholder (Note 22) FER AR A B (i sE22) 808 690
961 909
8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8. PRiGAIEE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E— XA
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: FRA BB AR T 51358
Cost of services rendered EIREARF A 77 70
Depreciation e 9 7
Minimum operating lease payments: CEAE  RIRAEHEE
office premises MAEYE 696 721
Auditor’s remuneration ZEM S 575 560
Staff costs BIRA
(including directors’ emoluments): (PEESEHS)
Salaries and other benefits #a LHMER 3,572 3,589
Pension scheme contributions RNEFTEMEIR 211 208
3,783 3,797
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31March2017 —Z—+F=HA=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. EBNSHRITHRASEE
EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’” emoluments disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules in (a) BIEAIZER ETAEBNERBEBERIEN(F622F)FE

38315 ([ & ) R A RIARAI(E622GE ) (FHES
BNz ERHEER) (AR D B2 E =M mT

relation to the disclosure under Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the Ordinance) and the Companies (Disclosure

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) (the

Regulation) are as follows:

Salaries,
allowances Pension
Directors’ and other scheme
fees benefits contributions Total
e 2UR ERE
EBEWS HebgFl sTEIHER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FT FHT FHIT FHIT
2017 —E—+tF
Executive Directors: WITES -
Wong Hoi Wong T2 - 1,030 18 1,048
Lin En Fu MAEH - 486 - 486
Non-executive Directors: FEHITESE -
Lin Chien Hsin R 48 - - 48
Hsieh Yi Chen HEZE 48 - - 48
Wu Chiao Ru RRT5 10 48 - - 48
Independent Non-executive Directors: B IERITESE
Chan Mei Sze PRIEFF 48 - - 48
Chu Meng Chi A 48 - - 48
Lin Yan Jenny v 48 - - 48
288 1,516 18 1,822
2016 —E-XRE
Executive Directors: WITES -
Wong Hoi Wong Tl - 1,030 18 1,048
Lin En Fu MAEH - 486 - 486
Non-executive Directors: FERITESE -
Lin Chien Hsin M 48 - - 48
Hsieh Yi Chen EAINEES 48 - - 48
Wu Chiao Ru RRI54A 48 - - 48
Independent Non-executive Directors: B IEMITES
Chan Mei Sze PREFF 48 - - 48
Chu Meng Chi KAE 48 - - 48
Lin Yan Jenny Ak 48 - - 48
288 1,616 18 1,822

NAFEMBEFE  BMECFAESHEXRER
TS 2 25 ANBEEE( 2@ ek k&
B 2 WE N T EIES -

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments, and neither incentive payment nor compensation
for loss of office was paid to any director during the current and prior year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9.
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(o)

Details of emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals during the
year included two directors (2016: two directors) whose emoluments are
set out above. Details of remuneration of the remaining three (2016: three)
highest paid employees of the Group during the year are as follows:

ESNSRITBAEZME (18)

(®)

RENAAEESHATBEREESR(ZF X
FMBER) IS ZFBHIW L - RFR -
REBZHBT=ZR(ZE—RF  ZR)RS#HEE

ZHez FEHIWT -

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e ZMRHEMET] 906 915
Pension scheme contributions RIS FT B 40 40
946 955

The aggregate emoluments of each of the members of senior management
were within the following bands:

BAREREEKE M AT MIFHERER

2017 2016

—E—+tF AN

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AB N

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 7 7

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %72 1,500,000 % 7T 1 1
BIrs RIS E AR AR 2016/17 F3k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2017

—T—+tF=H=+—H

10.PENSION SCHEMES

11

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The central
pension scheme is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
all retired employees and the Group has no further obligations for the pension
payments on post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.

The Group’s contributions to pension schemes for the year ended 31 March
2017 amounted to HK$211,000 (2016: HK$208,000).

.TAXATION

(@) Taxation for the year

10.

11.

RifE st S

AEBRBRHERBSF G - REMBELEERS
St Sz BB RHEE R F M AR RARERIF S (T3]
BeFtdl])  AKEREBEAFERX —BOLIERHE
o RARERTE S R85 A E B R B A
B @B BI2EETRBLEEAS  BAEEY
BESRFE - ARERBESH AL ZEBEHFE
REEME -

RPBREARNBMBARZ EEALEAE BT
FEE 2z REBAREEE - ZFTRMBRRARTS
R—Bo AP RRKRSFSER R - hRBARESF
AN EZRDRNERZMERKE  MAKEBA
REERFAINZBRRERAFREEMRASEIE -

REE=ZZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE  AEBEELHR
K&t 2l 211,000 7T (= F —7<4F © 208,000/ 7T) °

I8

(@) AFEMIHA

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHET

Deferred tax for the year AEERERIA 790 602

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax, PRC enterprise income tax and
Taiwan enterprise income tax has been made as the Group has sustained
estimated tax losses for both years.
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@)

31 March 2017 —Z—+HF=HA=+—H
11.TAXATION (Continued) 11. I8 (58)
Taxation for the year (Continued) (@ AFERHEGE)
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to loss before taxation per RNEEHRBRZGAEELE mkERAEZ
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income BRAEERZEENT
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF T—XF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHERT FAT
Loss before taxation FRT R &SR (3,779) (4,340)
Taxation credit calculated at Hong Kong #£16.5% (ZZ—7XF : 16.5%)
profits tax rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) ZEBFESHB R E 2 NKRBIE (623) (716)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TT?D?RF?@?S‘ZZ?R%K Vit 958 943
Effect on different tax rate of subsidiaries REMEIEREELE ZHE AT
operating in the other jurisdictions TR R 22 170 204
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERRBEBEB BB E 288 177
Tax effect of other unrecognised deductible Hi AR MR REER
temporary differences 2R R (1) -
Tax effect of non-taxable items TAERIBE 2 B2 2 6)
Taxation for the year REEFERIEA 790 602
The components of recognised deferred tax liabilities are as follows: () ERRECHBEAGBEZENDIEOT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BREMEE (E)

Accelerated

Revaluation of

depreciation investment
allowance properties Total
hnEBiE

e REWMEER Bat

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT FAT

At 1 April 2015 RZZE—RAFMNA—H 608 469 1,077
Charge for the year AREE R 383 219 602
Exchange realignment FE 5 SR (40) (28) 68)
At 31 March 2016 RZZE—RF=A=1+—H 951 660 1,611
Charge for the year A E N 384 406 790
Exchange realignment INEFE 84) (72) (156)
At 31 March 2017 R_E—+F=A=+—H 1,251 994 2,245

BN RS BB R AR - 2016/17 F#f
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H

11.TAXATION (Continued)

(c) The components of unrecognised deductible temporary differences are as

11. TRIA (4&)

(€ RERAHRERFIEZRZERILEILT

follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF T RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Unutilised tax losses REARIAEIE
PRC subsidiaries R E A A 5,461 6,118
Taiwan subsidiary BENBAR 1,458 5,142
Companies operating in Hong Kong REBLE 2 AE] 22,358 22,358
29,277 33,618
Provision BiE 1,128 1,128
Decelerated tax allowances BIRTHIEITE 6 -
30,411 34,746
Note: FHEE -

Deferred tax assets in respect of the deductible temporary differences have not been
recognised in the financial statements owing to the absence of objective evidence in
respect of the availability of sufficient taxable profits that are expected to arise to offset
against the deductible temporary differences.

The unutilised tax losses accumulated in the PRC subsidiaries and Taiwan subsidiary
would expire in five years and ten years from the respective year of loss sustained
respectively. The unutilised tax losses accumulated in the group entities operating in
Hong Kong can be carried forward indefinitely.

12.DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year (2016:
HK$Nil).

13.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 is
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$4,559,000
(2016: HK$4,933,000) and weighted average of 225,570,261 (2016:
225,570,261) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the
years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016. Accordingly, the basic and diluted loss
per share for the respective years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 are the
same.
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RNRE FEUE R A B TR A 2 AR BUE T R AR
Bz EREER - BT ERPERER A AT MR LR
EEMRBLEHREE

ERAS

MBARRE L ADAWRBABEBAINEEZ

BEFERAFARTENGEE - REBELZ AT KD
BB AR A -

12. Bz 8

RRBRAFE

TET) -

13. 8REE

YRHRERAEARE (T -

REE-T—tF=-A=1+—HLFE SRELXER
TR RE R AL E 184,559,000/ (=T — <
4,933,000 0) RFRNEBITMEFHLEBER
225,570,261 & (=ZF —7~4F : 225,570,261 %) 51 ©

RBE-FT—tF=A=t+—HER-Z-XF=A
=+—BILFE - AR RS AREEEE ) 2 B -
Fit B2 -F—tF=A=1t—"BR_ZF—XRF=H
=t - REFEZESREAREEERAR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% ~ BERR

Furniture
Computer Office and Motor
equipment equipment fixtures vehicles Total
ERE BRAERE BRREE "E @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FAT FAT FHT FTAET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2015 R-ZZE—R5MNA—A 583 1,190 395 217 2,385
Additions N 3 5 - - 8
At 31 March 2016 RZZE—AR"F=ZA=1+—8 586 1,195 395 217 2,393
Additions =Y 13 - - - 13
Disposals e @ - (1) - ©
At 31 March 2017 R-ZZE—tH=HA=1+—-H 597 1,195 394 217 2,403
Accumulated depreciation: RENE
At 1 April 2015 RZZE-RFNA—A 580 1,181 395 217 2,373
Charge for the year REELH 3 4 - - 7
At 31 March 2016 R-ZE—XR"F=ZA=1+—8 583 1,185 395 217 2,380
Charge for the year AFEELH 5 4 - - 9
Eliminated on disposal B R 8 © - (1) - ®)
At 31 March 2017 R-ZZE—tH=HA=1+-H 586 1,189 394 217 2,386
Carrying amount: BRE(E
At 31 March 2017 RZE—tH=ZA=+—-H 11 6 - - 17
At 31 March 2016 RZZE—R"F=A=+—H 3 10 - - 13
BN RS BB R AR - 2016/17 F#f 67



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBREMEE (F)

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. &M

HK$'000
FEIT

Fair value: @?ﬁ :
At 1 April 2015 RZE—RAFMA—H 43,750
Change in fair value included in other gains (Note 5) E\J)\ﬁﬁﬂilﬁlmz N EEEE (FIEES5) 875
Exchange realignment HE 3 SR (1,811)
As 31 March 2016 RZZE—R"F=ZRA=1+—H 42,814
Change in fair value included in other gains (Note 5) PIAE AWz 2 A FEEE) (HiRES) 1,625
Exchange realignment HINE TR (2,394)
At 31 March 2017 R-T—+tHF=A=+—H 42,045

The rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties leased out
under operating leases amounted to HK$1,476,000 (2016: HK$1,452,000) for
the year. Direct operating expenses arising on the investment properties in the
year amounted to HK$77,000 (2016: HK$70,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2017 has
been arrived at on market value basis carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuer who holds a recognised and relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and category
of the investment properties being valued.

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is
set out in the above table.

Change in unrealised gain for the year included in profit or loss for investment
properties held at 31 March 2017 amounted to HK$1,625,000 (2016:
HK$875,000).

The major inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties are set out below:—

AEEAEEKRARBLCEAERAZREMEMS
TH& WA 51,476,000 7T ( = F — /N 4F ¢ 1452000/%
TL) o AFERREYEMEENEZELERS /77,000
BT (ZZ—7N4F : 70,000%7T) °

R-E—tF=A=+-"RAFEEZKREVEZAFE
TERB EREERMAFITHERRERA T?ﬁﬁﬁ%
EfEEMSH  KMTHEBRBERDRFAERAY
AR EEER ;TFME@E’J&%%%E’JME&@%U/J%
RRARRER

RAMENRFEREIREEUERATENE - BUIRS
R FEAHOE RN LXK -

%*%ftiiﬂ:+f5%%%&§%%%k$ﬁﬁ
BEBRZAZBRINEZE)51,625000%8T(ZF—N
£ . 875,000 7T) ©

AEEREMERNTEAEMAZIEHARBRRT

2017 —E2—+t5F
Relationship of

Investment Fair value Valuation technique unobservable inputs
properties hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs to fair value

fRIERAMT & TAERHEEAF
REYHE ATFEER FTEBARIE ERTHEERABIE = LS
Commercial units Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, The higher the asking
PEEEN FE 3R The key input is recent taking into account of the discount on asking price, the higher the

market asking price of
comparables

i 397
T ER AR R
LR Y%E 2 Ti5EE
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price and size between the subject properties
and the comparables, ranging from HK$28,000
to HK$36,000 per square meter.

AR YEE 2R ERTTSRE - EEEREIT IR
AR ER LY E 2 KN BEBHEGFH
28,000 % 7T 2 36,000 % 7T

fair value
RefEE - AIRATE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The major inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s investment

31 March 2017

15. IR&EM* (18)

—T—+tF=HA=+—H

REBRENEQNFEAEBMAZIEHABERINT

properties are set out below:— (Continued) X (£8)
2017 —E—+F
Relationship of
Investment Fair value Valuation technique unobservable inputs
properties hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
fRER IR FOBRBIEENF

REME DNEEER FEBAE BERFTUHEBARIE BEzB%

Car park spacing Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, The higher the asking
located in the F3H The key input is recent taking into account of the discount on asking price, the higher the
same building market asking price of price and location between the subject fair value
of the above comparables properties and the comparables, ranging from  &E&& & @ BIAFE
commercial units thBOA HK$227,000 to HK$261,000 per car park B

7R ER iP5 & FEHABIE AT spacing.
fIERAREZ A LEBURERL 2 TI5HE AL BORER 2 A S RE - LZ ERESTN
B KRB RYERALECABM 22 - BEHT

JHEAL 227,000 7T ZE 261,000 7T
2016 —EB-REF
Relationship of

Investment Fair value Valuation technique unobservable inputs

properties hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs to fair value

fRERR FOERBEELTF

REYHE DNFEER FERABE ERTABERABE BEZBF

Commercial units Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, The higher the asking

[EE:v E35% The key input is recent taking into account of the discount on asking price, the higher the

market asking price of price and size between the subject properties fair value
comparables and the comparables, ranging from HK$33,000 #& =8 @ 8IAFE
HESE to HK$39,000 per square meter. 2=y
FEHABE R AL EYIEE 2T BT RIE - & E EEETT -
tbE 2 Ti5EE BIEMEEAILEME 2 X - BEBFTH
33,000 72 39,000 % 7T

Car park spacing Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, The higher the asking

located in the F3R The key input is recent taking into account of the discount on asking price, the higher the

same building

of the above

commercial units
fIFAER it e

FIERAREZ A

B

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest and best

market asking price of
comparables

teESE
TEHABIE AT
bz HisEE

use, which does not differ from their actual use.

price and location between the subject
properties and the comparables, ranging from
HK$313,000 to HK$438,000 per car park
spacing.

ATt 2 T EATISRIE - EERER -
BEWERALEYENE - SEHTED
B & 313,000 7T E 438,000 # 7T

RiEIwEEH -

AR S E B R AR

RNFEFETDRE LY E R

fair value
BERS
8%

AIATHE

BREERE  BEERE

2016/17 FFif

69



70

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H

16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017 were as follows:

Issued ordinary

16. FriGFI B LS 2

WZE—tF=A=+—H

Percentage of

35 >

&

CIBARZFENT

Place of incorporation/ shares/registered equity attributable

Name of company registration and operation capital paid up to the Company Principal activities

ERTEER AREELS

ARER SEM AL, R R S i B HREMER REFSLE FEXEHK

Subsidiary held directly

HESEZHEAR

Thiz Technology Group The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$100 100 Investment holding

Holdings Limited RBRLES /B 100%7T BB R

Subsidiaries held indirectly

BEESEZHELR

Thizlinux Inc. The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 Investment holding
RBRELZHSBE 13T REZER

Thizbiz Inc. The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 Investment holding
RBELZES S 17T REZER

Thiz.com Inc. The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$200,000 100 Investment holding
HBRLES B 200,000% 7T REER

Kingray International Inc The British Virgin Islands/Taiwan US$2,000,000 100 Investment holding
EBRAHSBE 2,000,000 27T REZER

Thiz.com (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Investment holding and

ENEsFIFE 7 A (F8) BB 10,0007 provision of management

BRAF services
REZR AR HEIE RS

Thiz Design Group Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Investment holding and

BE 10,000/8 7T provision of management

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 16. FiGFIE A Sl &% (5&)
Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017 were as follows: RZE—+F=A=+—H WBARZHFBWET:
(Continued) (&)
Issued ordinary Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ shares/registered equity attributable
Name of company registration and operation capital paid up to the Company Principal activities
ERTZER AT EM
ARERE MRS, S 2 BEEMER BREBSE FEER
EEERHESRE Taiwan NT$1,700,000 100 Trading business
BN FIFE SR BT PR A R = | 1,700,000 51 & ¥ B HER

N =
BED AT

Beijing Thiz Ying Jia The PRC, limited liability company US$1,950,000 100 Trading business
International Trading FE - BREEAF 1,950,000 =R
Co., Limited (“Ying Jia")
(Note)

1L BN 2 2 B
BEARAR ([&5=])

(FfF3E)
ThizLinux Software (Shenzhen) The PRC, limited liability company US$1,300,000 100 Provision of technical
Company Limited (Note) R BRETAR 1,300,000 37T support to Linux based
BRS¢ CRYI) A IRAF) () software and hardware
products
A Linux BB 2 G
2 iR
fE8( H8) BRARAR The PRC, limited liability company US$340,000 100 Property investment
(“Jing Rui”) (Note) FE - BREEAR 340,000 T MEIRE
(M58R 1) (i EE)
Note: The subsidiaries are registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Mzt - ZEMBARIBBEPEIEEAMZINGBERE -
law.
In the opinion of the directors, the above subsidiaries principally affected the EERA LAMNBARHAKRERAFEEREEAY
results of the Group for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets BB EFE 2 ERED o MR HEE T E AR
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the ZHE  EFARREEERHRENTTER

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31March2017 —Z—+F=HA=+—H

17.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

17. B R H b EUWGRIA - & NFRITRIA

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Trade receivables FEUBRIA 27 27
Other receivables, deposits and HA IR - 12$ RIERIA
prepayments, net of allowance (MBEHE) 368 355
395 382
(@ The average credit period granted to the Group’s customers is 90 days @ AEEARTREFPZFHEEHAVA(ZE—RF:

90H) - MZEB—tF=A=+—H REZREH
FTEZ AEERERR (BN REEE) 2Rk D

(2016: 90 days). As at 31 March 2017, the ageing analysis of the Group’s
trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts, based on the invoice

date was as follows: W
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 27 27
Over 360 days 360 HLA L - -
27 27

At 31 March 2017, the Group’s trade receivables of HK$280,000 N-Z—+F=A=+—H » K&EE2280,000/8T
(2016: HK$280,000) were individually determined to be impaired. There (ZZ—7<%F : 280,000/ 7T) 2 FEWBRIBIR AR E
BHBERE  REBERANFETEZY - N =T
Accumulated specific allowances for doubtful debts as at 31 March 2017 —tF= A=+ —HO R RREEEE £280,000
was HK$280,000 (2016: HK$280,000). The Group does not hold any BIT(ZZE—J/5%F : 280,000 7T) © AKE I EZ
LEHBP/ETAEARR -

was no movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year.

collateral over these balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

17.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(o)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

17. B RHEMEWRIE - BRERFAMTRIA
(#&)

b) REEZCBHERBREZRRIMTOT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

Neither past due nor impaired N s B ORI B 27 27
More than 6 months but not more than #ARG1E A LA BT EBR 12 E A

12 months past due - -

Over one year —F LA - -

27 27

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
customer for whom there was no recent history of default.

At 31 March 2017, the Group’s other receivables of HK$848,000
(2016: HK$848,000) were individually determined to be impaired. There
was no movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year.
Accumulated specific allowances for doubtful debts as 31 March 2017 was
HK$848,000 (2016: HK$848,000). The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

SR 4 260 A 7T R R 0 B MO OR B — R R MRS 4
LHENEPER -

© RZZT—tF=A=+—8 &EE848,000%
TL(ZZ—7XF 1 848,000 7T ) 2 H U sk I8 1
RETEALTRE REBERAFELEZS) -
RZZ—tFZA-+—BNRFREETREL
848,000 7T (ZZ— 74 : 848,000/87T) A&
W Z S AR A TR RR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2017

—T—+tF=H=+—H

18.BANK BALANCES AND CASH 18. RTBERIRE
2017 2016
—ZT—tF —T—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Bank balances and cash RITREEF RS 17,492 14,613
At 31 March 2017, included in the Group’s bank balances and cash were RZZE—tF=ZA=+—H xEBZRTEFLRE
amounts of approximately HK$5,324,000 (2016: HK$4,180,000) denominated H#95,324,0007 7T ( = F — 734 : 4,180,000/ 70) AA R,
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and kept in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible into BMIARBEDHE  WERRFE -  ARETAIBEBRR
other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control BHMER - Al - REBFBINEBIZRE RERE &
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign ERNEEERTE  AEEAFEBERBEETINEEK
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other ZIRITHBRARBREME -
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
19.0THER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND 19. Hfh[ETRIB ~ EWIRERIESRIE
ACCRUALS
2017 2016
—ZT—tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Deposits received BlES 516 524
Other payables and accruals HAth B SRIE R BT RUE 1,313 1,301
1,829 1,825
20.AMOUNT DUE TO THE SPOUSE OF A DIRECTOR 20. [EfTEZ= B BRIE
The amount is unsecured, interest bearing at Hong Kong prime rate calculated ER 2 ZOETEER - REEREENXTE (RAEE
on a monthly basis and repayable on demand. Interest charged during the year B E) RERENKEE - AFEEMNFIEA19,000%8T
amounted to HK$19,000 (2016: HK$37,000). (ZZ—7"4F : 37,0008 7T) °
.AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR 21. [EfTEERIB

21

It represented amount due to Mr. Lin Chien Hsin of HK$3,723,000 (2016:
HK$4,789,000) which is unsecured, interest bearing at Hong Kong prime rate
per annum. No demand for settlement of the principal amount of HK$2,229,000
and accrued interest of HK$1,494,000 would be made within 12 months from
end of the reporting period. Interest charged during the year amounted to
HK$134,000 (2016: HK$182,000).
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JRE {5 BR 2 55 S8 4 2 FRIE 3,723,000 L ( =T — /N -
4,789,0007% 70) IHEE R RIRE B HEBEFAENE - 8
MEHRE+ —EAARNTEEREEMIE2,229,0008 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

22.AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, interest bearing at 3% per annum. No demand for the
settlement of the principal amount of HK$32,000,000 (2016: HK$23,000,000)
and accrued interest of HK$2,789,000 (2016: HK$1,981,000) would be made
on or before 30 June 2018. Interest charged during the year amounted to

HK$808,000 (2016: HK$690,000).

23.SHARE CAPITAL

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

22. [EfTRRRTRIA

HEREER EFFEI%TE - RZT—/\FRA
=+ BRI E ZKEERIE32,000,0008T (ZF—<
4 : 23,000,000 7T ) K &5 A1 82,789,000 7L (=&
—7N4F 1 1,981,000/87T) o 4 AHIBRFI B 5 808,000 4 7T
(ZZ—7<% : 690,000/87L) °

23. iR

Number of shares

of HK$1 each HK$’000
BREE1ET
HWRHHE FET
Authorised: SERE
Ordinary shares T
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 R=ZE—HFMA—H
and 31 March 2017 —E-RF=ZA=+—H8K
—E—+HF=ZA=+—H 430,000,000 430,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRHRE
Ordinary shares Tk
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 R-ZE—HFWA—H
and 31 March 2017 RZZE—R"F=A=+—H
RZF—+tF=A=1+—H 225,570,261 225,570
24.CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES 24. O #ARR 1B e A%
Number of shares
of HK$1 each HK$’000
SREE1ET
HRHHE FET
Authorised: EE
Non-voting convertible preference shares ISR ARE SR
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 RZE-—HFNA—QR -
and 31 March 2017 RZE—R"F=A=+—H
r—E—+F=ZA=+—H 90,000,000 90,000

At the annual general meeting held on 26 September 2014, the shareholders of
the Company approved the implementation of share consolidation on the basis
that every 10 unissued then existing preference shares of HK$0.1 each in the
share capital of the Company was consolidated into 1 consolidation preference

share of HK$1 each.

The Company had no outstanding issued convertible preference shares as at 31

March 2016 and 2017.

RZZB-NFNAZTABRTHERAFAg L K
RABRRUAEZERN G BEEERAARRAHE
THREREECNBITZAETREELRAHAALQR
P e — R E{E 1.0/ T2 & HHBSERD

RIE—RNER_TE—tF=ZA=Z1+—8 " KXRFEX
TFEB BT R E LR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2017

—T—+tF=H=+—H

25.RESERVES

@)

25. it

Capital redemption reserve @@ BAELZE
The reserve represents the amount equivalent to the nominal value of the ZEEBEEEN AR RRBEFEELE ZTHER
Company’s shares cancelled arising from the repurchase of own shares in NRARDEE L 25 -
prior years.
Special reserve (o) HFRIGEME
The reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of FRFEHEARRRNAEEALEBERRRKRO R
the shares of the Company and the nominal value of the shares of the BlEMR TR EABEAREEREIRENE A
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation to rationalise the AR (B 2 =58 °
structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on the GEM.
Translation reserve € EHHEE
The reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the BN HHREMEAREBIINEBMBREMEE
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is ZIER R o iZRBIRMIEE 40) TE SR BUR BRI ©
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 4().
Reserves of the Company d) AREZRFEE
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RADEE -eNHElE RER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FER TET FHET
(Note 25(a))
(FizE 25(a))
Balance at 1 April 2015 RZZ-RFWA—-R e 27,272 84 (209,795) (182,439)
Loss and total comprehensive EERAEE
income for the year FHEMERTE - - (1,990) (1,990)
Balance at 31 March 2016 e = 27,272 84 (211,785) (184,429)
Loss and total comprehensive FERAEE2ENEESE
income for the year - - (12,694) (12,694)
Balance at 31 March 2017 RZT—tF=A=+—Az&% 27,272 84 (224,479) (197,129)

The Company had no distributable reserves at 31 March 2017. Under the
Companies Law (Cap. 22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company, provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

26.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 26. IR IR R IRE
COMPANY
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b FExT FHET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries {5 B AR 2 e 46,126 46,126
Current assets REBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEEFENIRE 6,369 4,065
Prepayment TERTRIE 2 -
6,371 4,065
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H fth FE AT FRIE 837 837
Net current assets REBEEFE 5,534 3,228
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 51,660 49,354
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATH X RIRIE 23,213 8,213
Net assets EEFE 28,447 41,141
EQUITY xR
Share capital & 23 225,570 225,570
Reserves it 25(d) (197,123) (184,429)
Total equity EREE 28,447 41,141
Director Director
WONG HOI WONG LIN EN FU
3 E=
TlE MEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H

27.0PERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
Operating leases - lessor

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease rentals
receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

27.

RETHERIE
EEME - WRA

RZZB—tF=A=+—08 XAEERBETAIRHELS
MEERREESEREZ S EFENT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHT

Within one year —FR 1,020 492
In the second to fifth years inclusive EEZFRF (BEEEMF) 1,467 231
2,487 723

The investment properties have committed tenants for an average term of one to

two years.

Operating leases - lessee

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had outstanding commitments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises, which fall due as

follows:

RAYEZ AP GEEERA—FEMF -

KEBEE - RiEA

RIZE—+F=A=+—08 TEERBIEVETA
BEHEEEE - BRARBETAE  BISAMT

2017 2016

—E—+F ZE—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FET

Within one year —FR 158 159
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERF(RIEERERE) 21 -
179 159

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for the office
premises. Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to two years with
fixed monthly rentals.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions and balances are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Balances with related parties

Details are disclosed in Notes 20, 21 and 22 to the financial statements.

Interest charged by related parties

Details are disclosed in Notes 20, 21 and 22 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel

Details of directors’ emoluments are shown in Note 9(a) to the financial
statements.

The remuneration of other key management during the year was as

e BREMEE (E)
31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H
28. BRABALRS
EAAMEALZSRERINT ;
(a) BMEALZEH
SERBHE RN 20 - 21 %22 FUIRE -
(b) ERIEALKER 2R
SERBHE RN 20 - 21 %22 FUIRE -
(©) TEBEBASZHE

EEME 2 FEHNYBEWEMETNE) ©

FHAMEIEERE2MEMT

follows:
2017 2016
—z—tF e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Short term benefits pSEEEER] 906 915
Post-employment benefits RURIER 40 40
946 955

The directors are of the opinion that the balances due to related parties
and related interest charged which also constitute connected transactions
under the GEM Listing Rules were carried out in the normal course of
business of the Group and at interest rates no higher than market rate.

EFRE - HRBBEAL 2B RN ABF
BIHRAIZIR LD RAIT 2R S - TS
BT 2 IR A B — R TR AT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H

29.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are:

(i)  toensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;

(i) to provide an adequate return to shareholders;

(i) to support the Group’s sustainable growth; and

(iv)  to provide capital for the purpose of potential mergers and acquisitions.

There is no change in the Group’s capital management objectives from prior
years.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing ratio which is
calculated as total debts divided by total equity. Total debts are calculated as
total borrowings comprising amount due to the spouse of a director, amount
due to a director and amount due to a shareholder, as shown in Notes 20, 21
and 22 respectively. Total equity represents equity attributable to owners of the
Company comprising share capital and reserves as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group’s strategy is to keep the gearing ratio
as low as it can without any material adverse impact on its liquidity.

29. EINREREIR
REBERNEEEMNWT ¢
() MRAEEHEHNSESESERTE
(i) AREFREHEGEER
(i) ZRAKERBEEERE K
(v) IREEEARLUEITRAIAES OF R UREE -
BUGFERL AR EATE B IEWEES -
AEERBERNBEBL R (RBEBEERNBERZTHE) &
BRI - BEBENIZEREE (RERENERRBR
B - BT E OB R E N R B A (W 520 ~ 21 K 22FT
i) o RSB ARHA AEGER - BIERAMBRK
MEFATROBAREE - AEBAREEEERFE

A B ELEREAT BT REE S &
EATFILE -

2017 2016

—ZT—tF ZT—REF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHIT

Total debts 1BIEIR 39,003 30,639
Equity T 16,783 23,518
Total debts to equity ratio LRfEIERE L R 2.3 1.3

The Group sets the amount of equity capital in proportion to its overall financing
structure. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the normal

course of the Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and

currency risk.

(a)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. Trade receivables are due
within 90 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are more
than 2 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had a concentration of credit risk from one
of the five largest customers which is in the software development segment
and accounted for 100% (2016: 100%) of the Group’s trade receivables.
There were no receivables from the remaining four (2016: four) largest
customers as at 31 March 2016 and 2017 as they either paid monthly
rentals in advance or fully settled the debts during the respective years.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own
cash management, including the short term investment of cash surpluses
and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from related parties and other parties to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the
Group’s financial liabilities at the end of reporting period, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at
the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay.

& AT R R M R ()

31 March 2017 —Z—+H=A=+—H

30. BI#5 R REIR

AEESRMTARNARXGRRETELZTERRAE

EER -

(a)

(b)

RBETER - FEREREEEREE

STl

AEEZEERBREEmBEIEMEKKIAE
£ ERERAFEERR  UNEEESEEEEY
EERR -

BN R EMERFIAENS - A ERBRE TE
BBz EPHETEREER G - WEFEEE
SR PR B H Y R R4S Bk MR B RO 1 BE
N UEBREFPHFHARREPEEXFHEE
RIGNMER - RWIRIEMR TR B H#E00 BN EIH] -
IEBABRABERER - —ReZREE—
FEERHAEBEMGRER - E—RIERT - &
SET g ZREP RIS -

AERZFERRIEXEEZFENFUERE - &
FEETEIEARZERTEFEEERR - B2
[EHIK -

RZZ—tHF=A=+—H0 AEEFEEEES
R - H100% (ZF—7XF 1 100%) 2 U AR I8
RAEERAREP 2 —F#ER - WHABRHRESH
FeoRZE—RERZT—+F=A=+—H 1
AEFHTHA(ZT—RF  OF) WEEMKK
B HRERAFEESEASINEAASRESR
EIBETEFTH »

iGN

AEERNEBLEERARSANESER &
ERRSRBETEMRENERES - WA
HRGER  BEERSERBETNRELE -
AIBREAAREERAE - AEEY HELTHE
REGHESBRREMTROZER - ARRE
HRENBRSERURAEBEALREMALR
BREMAREEEE  BUEHRESADES
BTSK -

TRIVRAEBE AR B RHERRIZCATHOREE
RRERTESREE(BERAOMN XL (WEF
B)RBEREMRBITZNERFEZMNE) 2 FRE
WER - ARAEBERARARABEEBHREL &
AR -

BN RS BB R AR - 2016/17 F#f
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& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2017 ZZ—+F=A=+—H

30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c)

30. M EIREIR (1&)

(b) FRENEERR (F&)

Total
contractual Within 1
Carrying  undiscounted year or on
amount cash flow demand Over 1 year
EHEES: 3] R—FR
BREE ReResE REER —FH0E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
2017 —E—tF
Other payables, deposits HinERFIE - Bl
received and accruals e RIEFTHUR 1,829 1,829 1,829 -
Amount due to a director ENEEHE 3,723 3,910 - 3,910
Amount due to the spouse of a director ERNESRBHE 491 516 516 -
Amount due to a shareholder FERTR R R 34,789 36,607 - 36,607
40,832 42,862 2,345 40,517
2016 —TRF
Other payables, deposits HibEFE - BIK
received and accruals & RIEFTHOE 1,825 1,825 1,825 -
Amount due to a director [ERNEETIA 4,789 5,029 - 5,029
Amount due to the spouse of a director [ENESRBEHRIEA 869 912 912 -
Amount dug to a shareholder JERTAR R IR 24,981 26,476 - 26,476
32,464 34,242 2,737 31,505

Interest rate risk

(o) TIRER

REE 2z NEREREERIRE T BN EGTE 2R
TR AR - MF BN KRG B ZERBARE
KBS RA R o A KM o E R E 52 R+
BER T

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank balances and
borrowings with variable interest rates. Borrowings issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BREMEE (E)

31 March 2017 —Z—+HF=HA=+—H
30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 30. I RREIR (&)
Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) TIERR (F&)
The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group at the end ARSI AN B R RS AR 2 FRF1E -
of reporting period.
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRFIE BEBRH =
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
TER FAT
Bank balances RITRETF 0.2% 17,492 0.1% 14,600
Variable rate borrowings E BN EK
Amount due to a director — principal ENEEHIE-~ 5.0% 2,229 5.0% 3,189
Amount due to the spouse ENEERBTIE-1%
of a director - principal 5.0% 234 5.0% 524
2,463 3,713
Fixed rate borrowings BEMEEE
Amount due to a shareholder - principal &R FIE— A& 3.0% 32,000 3.0% 23,000
Total borrowings EEHBE 84,463 26713
The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are REBERRZANREGERPEGEMEHRERMGE
disclosed in Notes 20, 21 and 22 to the financial statements. 20 - 21 K22 NIKFEE -
At 31 March 2016 and 2017, a reasonably possible increase/decrease RIE—RNFRE—+F=A=+—H  R17F
in interest rate of 0.25% and 1.00% on bank deposits and variable rate RRAENEEFTHOFES RSB A e EFH
borrowings respectively, with all other variable held constant, would have [%20.25% K 1% » FiB HithWESRETE - HAREE
insignificant impact on the Group's financial performance and accumulated RIE—RNER_E—+F=A=1T—HILFEN
losses for both years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017. BRI R Rt BN 2T EE -
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the LA FBYBRE DT B R R T RS g 2 R 5 &5 B 9] 52
change in interest rates had occurred at the beginning of the reporting EmMETE  WEERARBEHRAEYHIETES
period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non- BMTAYFERER - FHAK TAMGS ZHEIIEEE
derivative financial instruments in existence at the end of the reporting HEET (AEEREHREE 2 R4
period. The estimated basis points increase or decrease represent BB 7 g o
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the end of next reporting period.
Currency risk (d) SRR
Currency risk to the Group is minimal as majority of the Group’s HARERE X HKEHH L/(E@,\ELXEZI}] =1
transactions are carried out in the respective functional currencies of the HETT o AL ARE B FTEE 2 EEEBIRIE
group entities.
Fair values estimation (e) nY{EfGS

(e)

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values as at end of the respective periods.

ETRTANRENSHNEFERTAZA
HEZ 2RI -

T
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31.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group’s financial position and financial performance are sensitive to
accounting methods, assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. The Group bases the assumptions
and estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
the Group believes to be reasonable and which form the basis for making
judgements about matters that are not readily apparent from other sources.
On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates. Actual results may
differ from those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of significant accounting policies, the judgements and other
uncertainties affecting application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported
results to changes in conditions and assumptions are factors to be considered
when reviewing the consolidated financial statements.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to the actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment losses for trade receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for trade receivables resulting from the
inability of the customers to make the required payments. The Group bases
the estimates on the ageing of the trade receivables balance, customer credit-
worthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the financial conditions of the
customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs might be higher than expected
and could significantly affect the results of future periods.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties included in the Group’s financial statements require
measurement at fair value, as detailed in Note 15. The fair value measurement
of which utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs
used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into different levels
based on how observable the inputs used in the chosen valuation technique are
(the “fair value hierarchy’):

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1 inputs;
and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data)

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17

3.8
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IR e HRERMEE (8)

31 March 2017 =—Z—tHF=A=+—H

st st R FIER

REE 2 AN R Q& AR IR EUR & MR A
Z2EFE BRRGFAAFE - AEERBBEL
B URAEERRE L RBAREEIAE &R RIRH
B =B HEER 2 ZREMER  FHZERRR
it - EEREHETEEMAG - BERAERTTERER -
RERGHEEMARTR -

EEHGEMBERERE  TESHERRNRE  PERE
RZEBERZAB REMTEERR - URSHREAY
AR RBR E8 2 FRERBEERAE -

AEBELBRARRZ EFT REE - ZHEE—
MEMEE D REREER AR ﬂﬁiﬁﬂﬁxﬁ%lﬁl
RT—ERBRFRERHEER AR RAEERERNHE
ZAEE BRI XA Fradim

MEUERIA IR B 1R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)
Fair value of investment properties (Continued)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of
the inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
investment properties.

The fair value of the investment properties was based on a valuation on these
properties conducted by an independent firm of professional valuers using
property valuation techniques which made use of those significant unobservable
inputs as mentioned in Note 15. A favourable or unfavourable change to these
inputs would result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding amount of fair value gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss.

32.SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL

LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised at 31 March 2017 and 2016 may be categorised as follows:

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2017 —F—+F=A=+—H

31. @t st RAE (48)

REME 2 N\ FHE (18)

HIEADHR LB DERYZEEMERBRATAE
AERABEAFEZREERBABBEMMETE -

BREVMEZ MFEDHRBI EXGHERMRAYEGEE
(M 18 Pl 2 ERT RS BUR) BB M A
EITOME - BRARBENR TN ES T EHAKE
REVMERATEZY  URRBEZAERNIBAEAFE
Wz s gsia -

32. EMEENRERMEBNBIHSE

AEER-_Z—+tFR-T-R"F=ZA=+—BHERZ
ERMEERERABZEMEDRNT

2017 2016
—ZT—tF —ZT—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables REHERAGTTEZER
(including bank balances K e IE
and cash), at amortised cost (RIERTHEETERES) 17,766 14,892
Financial liabilities SHaE
Financial liabilities, at amortised cost REHERAGFEZERMARE 40,832 32,464

33.APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2017.

33. fELRSMEIRE

EFEN T tF AT N\BRETRETIRES
MBwE -

BIrs RIS E AR AR 2016/17 F3k 85



Financial Summary
MBS E

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the NTRASEABEREFEMRR GEEEUNREERE
Group, prepared for the last five years, as extracted from the audited consolidated B2HE RSB AR KERGEVBRE - AMEL
financial statements of the Group. This summary does not form part of the audited IR EREG BT ERR ZAKERD -

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS £

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—tF —E—RF —E-HF —E—pF —E—=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT FHET FHET
Turnover WA 1,891 1,925 1,780 1,350 784
(Loss)/profit from operations s (5518) /% F (2,818) (3,431) 1,957 (5,589) (6,687)
Finance costs RhE AR (961) (909) (772) (1,247) (1,095)
(Loss)/profit before taxation KA (E51E) 5 (3,779) (4,340) 1,185 (6,836) (7,782)
Taxation Fi1g (790) (602) (540) (537) -
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (F518), =75 (4,569) (4,942) 645 (7,373) (7,782)
Attributable to: LA AL REL
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIEZE DN (4,559) (4,933) 655 (7,360) (7,771)
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR = (10) ©) (10) (13) (a1
(4,569) (4,942) 645 (7,373) (7,782)
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Financial Summary (Continued)

B
BT E (48)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
At 31 March
R=A=+—8
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—tF —T—RF —T—RF —T—F =4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT FAT FAT FAT
Non-current assets IERBNEE 42,062 42,827 43,762 43,145 24
Current assets MEEE 17,887 14,995 21,041 15,870 10,483
Deduct: DA
Current liabilities REEE 2,734 3,238 3,682 3,972 10,761
Net current assets/(liabilities) REVEE,/(BE)FE 15,153 11,757 17,359 11,898 (278)
Total assets less current WEERTESEARE
liabilities 57,215 54,584 61,121 55,043 (254)
Deduct: poE
Non-current liabilities IEMEAE 40,757 31,381 31,275 36,407 19,699
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(8E)FE 16,458 23,203 29,846 18,636 (19,953)
BIRSRI SR E AR AR - 2016/17 Fif

87



Particulars of Properties
JES=AH

Type Lease term

Properties held for investment BIEREWE EEill HEH
Rooms 1101, 1102,1114 and 1115, B S EREE SIS 1999 555 Commercial Medium

Car Parking Space Nos. 168,169,199 110158 ~ 110258 ~ 111458 2 111558 [GES A HR

and 200, No. 1999 Jingshajiang Road FOAERIZE 1685 « 16955 + 199 5% K& 200 5%

and Rooms 701,702,703 and 704, R&TREEE 198957 B 55 701 5% -

Car Parking Space Nos. 129, 130,131 7025 ~ 70355 & 704 55 MHEAI S 12955

and 132 No. 1989 Jingshajiang Road, 1305k + 13155 2 1325k »

Putuo District, Shanghai,

the PRC
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